**STATE OF MICHIGAN  
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

**PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN,**  
  
Plaintiff-Appellant,

Supreme Court No.  
Court of Appeals No. 331499  
Circuit Court No.15-004596-FC

V

**DAWN DIXON-BEY,**  
  
Defendant-Appellee.

---

**JERARD M. JARZYNSKA (P35496)**  
**Prosecuting Attorney**  
**JERROLD SCHROTENBOER (P33223)**  
**Chief Appellate Attorney**  
312 S. Jackson Street  
Jackson, MI 49201-2220  
(517) 788-4283

**GARY D. STRAUSS (P48673)**  
**Attorney for Defendants-Appellee**  
306 S. Washington Ave, STE 220  
Royal Oak, MI 48067  
(248) 584-0100

---

**APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL**

**PROOF OF SERVICE**

**JERROLD SCHROTENBOER (P33223)**

**STATEMENT OF THE QUESTION PRESENTED**

**Where the trial court concluded that defendant “brutally murdered in cold blood,” is 35-70 years for second-degree murder disproportionately high?**

**Defendant-Appellant answers:**

**Yes**

**Plaintiff-Appellee answers:**

**No**

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 9, 2015, a jury convicted defendant of second-degree murder. MCL 750.316. Subsequently, Jackson County Circuit Court Judge John McBain sentenced her to 35-70 years. Then, on September 26, 2017, in a published 2-1 opinion, the Court of Appeals remanded for resentencing (while affirming the conviction).

The Court of Appeals succinctly summarized the facts as follows:

Defendant, Dawn Marie Dixon-Bey, was arrested after admittedly stabbing her boyfriend, Gregory Stack, to death in her home on February 14, 2015. At first, she claimed that the victim must have been stabbed during an altercation with others before returning to their home. Later, however, defendant admitted that she was the person who stabbed the victim but claimed that she did so in self-defense. (P 1).

Jackson City Police Officer Gary Kingston testified that defendant had denied that she and the victim had been fighting. (December 1, 2015, Trial Transcript [TrII], p 45).

Sherry Heim testified that, about two or three days after defendant got out of jail, defendant told her that the victim had hit her with the dog cage and had thrown her over her grand babies. (TrII, p 131). In addition, Heim testified that the drinking and drug taking were mutual between defendant and the victim. (TrII, p 148). Later, George Wilson testified that defendant had said that throwing the dog cage had caused her to kill the victim as she had had enough. (TrII, 218). Ryan Wilson also testified that defendant had said that she had had enough and therefore killed him. (December 2, 2015, Trial Transcript [TrIII], P 71).

Dr. Rubén Ortiz-Reyes testified that the victim had two stabs to his heart, about one inch apart. (TrIII, pp 8, 11). Both wounds had been sutured. (TrIII, p 11). The wounds were four inches deep. (TrIII, p 13). Although he could not necessarily rule out that the second wound had

been caused by the surgeons, he did not believe that it had happened that way. (TrIII, pp 25, 27, 56).

Megan Marshall, defendant's daughter, testified that defendant had said that the victim had come home drunk and violent. When he cornered defendant, she picked up a knife and he lunged at her. (TrIII, p 91). Marshall also said that she had not seen the victim, her father, violent—just loud and obnoxious. (TrIII, p 118). Specifically, she has not seen him violent toward defendant. (TrIII, p 119). Sean Pierce also testified that he never saw the victim get physical when he drank, just argumentative. (TrIII, pp 156-158). Jeffrey Tobin also testified that the victim was not physical when he drank. (TrIII, pp 166-167).

Thomas Gore testified that defendant had once said that all that she needs to do is stick a knife in the victim's chest and then claim self-defense. (TrIII, p 187). Sometime around 2003, defendant had said that she would one day kill the victim. (TrIII, p 188). Richard Peterson also testified that defendant had a number of times threatened to stab the victim. (December 3, 2015, Trial Transcript [TrIV], p 16). The victim was not the one to start the fights. (TrIV, p 20).

Defendant testified that she had no explanation for why she had told Brian Pierucki that the victim had been attacked and stabbed on his way home. (December 7, 2015, Trial Transcript [TrVI], p 157). She also said that she continued telling the police the story about the stabbing on the way home even after learning that he was dead, simply because she had already started with the story and decided to stick with it. (TrVI, p 160). She also denied having previously stabbed the victim. (TrVI, p 178). Last, she said that she did nothing with the knife afterwards other than set it down. (TrVI, pp 179-180).

In rebuttal, Marshall testified that defendant had admitted stabbing the victim when they had first started dating. (December 8, 2015, Trial Transcript, p 47).

## ARGUMENT

**Because, as the trial court concluded, defendant “brutally murdered in cold blood,” 35-70 years for second-degree murder is not disproportionately high.**

Because the sentencing court (which presided over the trial) had every right to conclude that defendant had committed a first-degree murder (with a mandatory non-parolable-life sentence), 35-70 years is not disproportionately high. The facts are there. Defendant, who had stabbed the victim in the past, stabbed him twice in the heart (after having said that she would one day stab him and claim self-defense). Then, not only did she dispose of the murder weapon, but she lied to the police about what had happened. In addition, the Court of Appeals majority’s reasoning tying proportionality to the guidelines comes too close to making the guidelines mandatory. The sentencing court did not abuse its discretion in giving this sentence.<sup>1</sup>

The Court of Appeals majority made two fundamental mistakes in its analysis. First, it ignored the rule from such cases as *People v Ewing (After Remand)*, 435 Mich 443, 446, 462; 458 NW2d 880 (1990), *United States v Watts*, 519 US 148, 152; 117 S Ct 633; 136 L Ed 2d 554 (1997), and *United States v White*, 551 F3d 381, 386 (CA 6, 2008), cert den 556 US 1215; 129 S Ct 2071; 173 L Ed 2d 1147 (2009), that, in aggravating a defendant’s sentence, a judge may consider the facts underlying an acquittal. In the present case, the sentencing court did just that. In concluding that defendant had “brutally murdered [the victim] in cold blood,” (Sentence Transcript [STr], p 19), it noted that (1) defendant had twice stabbed the victim in the heart (STr, p 18), (2) about 1 ½ years earlier she had slashed him requiring reconstructive surgery (STr, p 18), (3) she had months earlier told someone that she would someday stab the

---

<sup>1</sup> This Court reviews sentence proportionality for an abuse of discretion. *People v Steanhouse*, 500 Mich 453, ; NW2d (2017).

victim and claim self-defense (STr, p 18), and (4) the knife disappeared after the stabbing (STr, pp 18-19).

Simply put, if the sentencing court is allowed to consider what crime the defendant actually committed, proportionality analysis should consider the crime committed and not the crime that the jury found beyond a reasonable doubt.<sup>2</sup> In assessing proportionality, the judge gets to consider the entire picture. Here, as *Ewing (After Remand)* allows, the judge concluded that defendant really committed a first-degree murder (which mandates non-parolable life). Yet, the majority ignored this ruling and analyzed the case as if what defendant really did was irrelevant. Thus, its analysis in effect overrules *Ewing (After Remand)*.

Further, in deciding that defendant had really committed a first-degree murder, rather than a second-degree murder, the trial court, of course, made a factual finding. The Court of Appeals majority did not find that this factual finding is in any way clearly erroneous. Instead, it just ignored it.

Second, by tying proportionality so much into the guidelines, the Court of Appeals has, at the very least, come very close to making the guidelines mandatory. The United States Supreme Court recognized this problem in two cases where it reversed the circuit courts' having looked at the guidelines in finding the sentence (which deviated from the guidelines) to be unreasonable. In *Kimbrough v United States*, 552 US 85; 128 S Ct 558; 169 L Ed 2d 481 (2007), the guideline range was 228-290 months. Based on disagreeing with the 100-1 powder-to-crack ratio, the judge gave only 180 months. The Fourth Circuit remanded for resentencing

---

<sup>2</sup> As it is, this rule has existed for plea bargains for over 25 years. *People v Brzezinski (After Remand)*, 196 Mich App 253; 492 NW2d 781, 783 (1992), lv den 442 Mich 898; 502 NW2d 42 (1993).

saying that going outside the guidelines was unreasonable based solely on disagreeing with the guidelines. In reversing the Fourth Circuit, the Supreme Court pointed out that the federal guidelines were by then advisory only. 552 US 101. The guidelines are merely the starting point and the initial benchmark. 552 US 108. As it is, the judge is in a superior position and has a greater familiarity with the case than does either the sentencing commission or the appellate courts. 552 US 109.<sup>3</sup> Although the sentence was 4 ½ years below the guidelines, the sentence was not unreasonable as the judge had honed in on the defendant's particular circumstances. 552 US 111.

In *Gall v United States*, 552 US 538; 128 S Ct 586; 169 L Ed 2d 445 (2007), the judge gave 36 months probation despite a 30-37-month range. The Eighth Circuit reversed finding a 100% downward departure is unreasonable because it is not supported by extraordinary circumstances. The Supreme Court, on the other hand, reiterated that the guidelines are now advisory. Review is limited to only what is “reasonable.” 552 US 46. Extraordinary circumstances are not required. 552 US 47. Thus, “the approaches we reject come too close to creating a presumption of unreasonableness for sentences outside the guidelines range.” *Id.* No heightened review standard exists for sentences outside the guidelines. 552 US 49. The standard is abuse of discretion either way.

Further, in tying proportionality review so much to the guidelines, the majority missed that the legal landscape has materially changed since *People v Milbourn*, 435 Mich 630; 461

---

<sup>3</sup> This analysis tracks far better the dissent’s position than the majority’s.

NW2d 1 (1990). Back then, no one could have imagined that mandatory guidelines would one day be ruled to be unconstitutional.<sup>4</sup>

In the end, the requirement that a larger deviation requires more of a reason than does a smaller deviation was met in the present case. As the law allowed, the sentencing court factually found (by a preponderance) that defendant had committed a first-degree murder. Under any standard, these facts justify the upward deviation. The 35-70-year sentence is proportionate.

Therefore, at the very least, this case fits within this Court's priorities. It has never either (1) looked at how cases like *Ewing (After Remand)* fit into proportionality analysis or (2) defined just what proportionality means given that mandatory guidelines are now unconstitutional. How this Court decides these issues will impact a very large number of sentencings. MCR 7.203(B)(3). The more proportionality analysis is tied to the guidelines, the more sentencing courts will not exercise their discretion to not apply the guidelines, the more (in reality) the guidelines will become mandatory. However this Court rules, it should at least make the decision one way or another.

---

<sup>4</sup> As it is, the Court of Appeals majority seems to have also missed that *Steanhouse, supra*, cited *Milbourn* for only its statements that the sentence is proportionate to how serious the crime is and did not cite it for any statement about tying proportionality analysis into the guidelines themselves.

**RELIEF**

**ACCORDINGLY**, plaintiff asks this Court to grant leave to appeal and reverse reinstating the sentence.

Dated: November 9, 2017

Respectfully submitted,

/S/ Jerrold Schrottenboer  
**JERROLD SCHROTENBOER (P33223)**  
**Chief Appellate Attorney**