**STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

Supreme Court No. 156746

Court of Appeals No. 331499

-vs-

Lower Court Case No. 15-4596-FC

DAWN MARIE DIXON-BEY

Defendant-Appellee.

Jerard M. Jarzynka (P35496)
Prosecuting Attorney
Jerrold Schrottenboer (P33223)
Chief Appellate Attorney
Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant
Jackson County Prosecutor
312 S. Jackson Street
Jackson, MI 49201-2220
(517) 788-4283

Gary David Strauss (P48673)
Attorney for Defendant-Appellee
Strauss & Strauss, PLLC
Attorney for Defendant-Appellee
306 S. Washington Ave, Ste 220
Royal Oak, MI 48067
(248) 584-0100

ANSWER TO APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL

Statement of Jurisdiction

The People filed this application seeking leave from the Court of Appeal's opinion reversing Defendant, Dawn Marie Dixon-Bey's sentence.

This application should be denied because the Court of Appeals' opinion is not clearly erroneous, it does not conflict with other decisions by this Court or the Court of Appeals, and it will not cause material injustice. MCR 7.302(B).

Counter-statement of Question Presented

- I. Was the Court of Appeals correct in holding that the trial court violated the principle of proportionality and in doing so, abused its discretion where the judge considered factors adequately accounted for in the guidelines and factors that were not unique to this offense or offender? Further, did the trial judge fail to provide an adequate basis for the sentence?**

The People answer, "No."

Defendant-Appellant answers, "Yes."

Counter-Statement of Facts

Introduction

Defendant-Appellee, Dawn Marie Dixon-Bey's long-term boyfriend, Gregory Stack, died from stab wounds on February 14, 2015. Ms. Dixon-Bey admitted that she stabbed Mr. Stack, but claimed that she did so in self-defense. She was charged with first-degree murder, MCL 750.316. After an eight-day jury trial, she was found guilty of second-degree murder, MCL 750.317. The advisory guidelines indicated a minimum sentence between 144-240 months. The presentence report stated that "the advisory sentencing guidelines call for a prison term in this matter, and this agent can find no compelling reason to deviate from those guidelines. As such, term of incarceration within those guidelines is recommended." (PSIR at 2). The trial judge imposed a sentence of 35-70 years, exceeding the guidelines by 180 months.

In its September 26, 2017, published decision, the Michigan Court of Appeals remanded the matter for resentencing, finding that the trial judge abused its discretion and violated the principle of proportionality set forth in this Court's opinion in *People v Steanhouse*, 500 Mich 453; 900 NW2d 327 (2017).

Trial Testimony

Dawn Dixon–Bey testified that prior to the stabbing, Gregory Stack was aggressive and had thrown things at her. She stabbed him in the chest when he lunged at her.

Dawn Dixon–Bey testified that she met Gregory Stack in 2003 or 2004 when she was working in a bar. Greg drank a lot when they first met and his drinking increased during the relationship. His drinking increased further after her father moved in with them because her father was a drinker. Greg started drinking schnapps around that time. He previously was not a liquor drinker and when he drank liquor he became angry. He would pick on Dawn and do things that he knew would irritate her.

She denied that she had ever threatened to stab Greg nor had she ever threatened

him with physical harm. (TR 6 at 103). Greg would push her into the counters and wrap his arms around her and hold her. His aggressive conduct increased during the last 6 months of his life. Whenever he was angry, depending on the situation, he would say she was worthless. Greg took Vicodin, Percocet, methadone, morphine, cocaine, mushrooms and ecstasy.

On the morning of February 14, Greg drunk a half a pint and left the house to move things from their old house to their new apartment. (TR 6 at 108). At some point he returned and brought a couple of boxes inside that were not supposed to come to the new apartment. She told him that the things didn't belong there and that he needed to take them back to the old house. He complained about her daughter Natiezia and then he and the others who were helping him move drank Apple Pie moonshine. He was upset when he left.

When he returned home he was yelling and he threw a dog cage at her. She believed he was complaining that the kids didn't get things together for the move. He pushed her out of the way as he was going in the living room. When he threw the dog cage at her she hit her knees on the coffee table. Greg sat on the couch and was screaming and yelling at her. He started throwing things at her that were on the coffee table. She told him that he should just pass out and he would feel better. He got mad and started pushing and shoving her. He was standing up and he slammed into her and pushed her against the wall. She told him to sit down to leave her alone. The kids were in the living room and when he shoved her backwards she tripped over her child's walker. She was cornered in the kitchen and could not get around him without climbing over the kids. She tried to push him backwards and he shoved her back into the refrigerator. She told him to leave her alone and he started trying to grab her.

She grabbed a skillet off the stove and swung it at him. He grabbed it from her and threw it in the kitchen. He grabbed her after that and she ended up grabbing a knife. At that

point they were just a few feet away from each other. Because of the look on his face she had no idea what he was going to do to her. She was very afraid that he was going to hurt her. (TR 6 at 118). After she had a knife she told him to get away from her and she was holding the knife by her side. She testified that "he lunged at me in the kitchen and I pretty much -- not sure what happened after that. I closed my eyes, because I was just afraid of what was coming next. The next thing I know, I'm standing there and he was standing there and he lifts his shirt and see -- we both kinda see the cut and he turns around and he goes in and sits on the couch." (TR 6 at 119).

She was in shock at the time and wasn't sure what happened. She asked if he needed her to call an ambulance because she wasn't sure how bad the cut was. She testified that she called her friend Sherry Heim and then called 911. When she called 911, they told her to lay him on the floor and administer CPR. While she was performing CPR, she was trying to talk to him, but he was so intoxicated she wasn't sure if he had passed out

When the officers showed up she told them that he had been stabbed on the way home. She did not want Greg getting in trouble for fighting and drinking because he was trying to get his drivers license back. She did know how serious the wound was at first. At the time that she grabbed the knife in the kitchen she did not intend to stab or injure him. She stated that she grabbed a steak knife or a butcher knife. She was holding the knife at her side when he came towards her. Greg was 9 or 10 inches taller than her. She believed that the knife was by her chest area at the time he lunged at her. She did not see any blood until Greg lifted up his shirt. She saw the wound bleeding and then it stopped. When he was on the couch he told her that he couldn't see. She wasn't sure what he was talking about. At some point he closed his eyes and she was trying to talk to him. He was still sitting on the couch when she called Sherry but he was not talking at all. His eyes were still open at that point.

Alissa Todd Kennedy testified that Gregory Stack used drugs and drank everyday. She stated that the arguments increased between them and that Stack usually initiated them.

Alissa Todd Kennedy is Dawn's daughter. Dawn started dating Greg when she was about 10 years old. She would spend time living with both her mother and her father. She believed that Dawn and Greg had a good relationship. (TR 6 at 6). Over time Greg's drinking increased as well as arguments between Greg and Dawn. Most of the arguments were initiated by Greg. Greg abused drugs every day. He snorted pills and cocaine, used mushrooms and smoked marijuana. She stated that Greg would "pick and touch you and just bother you." She stated that when a person doesn't want to play with him he gets upset, takes it personally and gets very aggressive. (TR 6 at 8).

When Dawn was taking care of her mother at the end of her life, Greg was very agitated because Dawn wasn't home to take care of him and occasionally he might throw a shoe or something at her if he got pissed off. (TR 6 at 17). She believed her mother moved into the new place because she was trying to get a place she could afford by herself so that she could leave Greg.

Karen Bivens testified that Mr. Starks's drinking problem increased over time and that she observed him do numerous drugs. She said that he got aggravated very quickly.

Karen Bivens was Dawn's sister. She met Greg 13 - 14 years ago. She stated that Greg had a drinking problem which increased over time. In addition to drinking, she observed him smoke crack cocaine and weed, take pills, snort cocaine and ingest mushrooms and LSD. The last time she visited them was between September and November of the previous year and she stayed overnight. She saw Greg taking pills and snorting something up his nose. He got aggravated very quickly. She stated that when people were in the house he was very nice but when he was there with Dawn he was very mean. (TR 6 at 26). Every time she visited them over the past 8 years, Greg would nitpick Dawn and criticize her constantly.

Daniel Bivens helped Mr. Starks move on the day of the incident. He testified that Starks drunk throughout the day and snorted 4 Vicodins.

Daniel Bivens is Dawn's father. At some point he moved in with Dawn and Greg and lived with them for about 5 years. He had a good relationship with Greg when Greg was sober. At first they used to drink beer and then Greg got into schnapps. In the 6 months prior to his death Greg was coming home drunk almost every day. He was into Vicodin pretty heavy and also did a little cocaine.

On February 14, he met up with Greg at Brian's house. (TR 6 to 38). He and Brian were helping Greg move things out of the Backus street apartment. Brian supplied Vicodin and he believed that Greg snorted 4 pills during the day. When they got to the new apartment, Greg started drinking moonshine called Apple Pie and Dawn got upset and they began to argue.

While he was living with Dawn and Greg he observed them fighting. Greg was the person who initiated the fights. He would come home drinking and would criticize Dawn. One time he saw him throw a shoe at her and hit her in the head. On another occasion he saw him take everything off the kitchen table and throw it at her. There always were arguments when he was drinking. When Dawn started taking care of her mother, Greg was angry about it all the time. (TR 6 at 49).

Asia Chantel Dixon-Bey testified that Starks's drinking increased. She picked Dawn up from jail and observed that her leg was bruised.

Asia Chantel Dixon-Bey is one of Dawn's daughters. She testified that Greg drank every day and increased the amount he drank over time. When he argued with Dawn, Dawn tried to walk away most of the time. She picked her mother up from jail in February and she took pictures of her body. She identified was a photo of her mother's left leg with a bruise. She testified the pictures were taken a day after she was released from jail. Asia identified photographs which showed bruises and cuts on her arms and legs.

Natiezia Janae Headen testified that Dawn and Gregory argument a lot and that Gregory started the arguments. She testified that prior to the incident he was physically assaulting Dawn.

Natiezia Janae Headen is another one of Dawn's daughters. She stated the during the past 3 years Greg and Dawn argued a lot. Greg started the arguments. They would begin with something small and escalate as the day went on. Greg was drunk every day. When he came home from work he would come home smelling like alcohol and he would begin drinking at home. On the weekends he started drinking as soon as he woke up. Dawn's mother did not want Greg drinking so much and he would argue with her about it. She also observed him snorting pills.

A few days before February 14, Greg and Dawn's relationship was horrible. "Greg would start hitting my mom and my dog would try to get him off of her." He would push and shove her as well. (TR 6 at 78). Greg gave Natiezia a black eye around Christmas break. She stayed out of school at that time because of the black eye. She testified that Greg got physical with her mother every night and that he threw things at her.

When her mother got out of jail she observed bruises on her. On February 14, Greg and Dawn argued about her. She was trying to tell Greg that she did not want the things that he was trying to move from the old house. He became upset with her and she asked him to throw the things away. On February 15, her mother told her that Greg had thrown a dog cage at her when she was in the kitchen and she could not get out. (TR 6 at 86).

Brian Keith Pierucki worked with Starks and stated that Starks's drinking appeared to be getting worse and that they would buy drugs together. He stated that Starks initiated arguments, which he believed were related to his alcohol and drug use.

Brian Keith Pierucki testified that Greg's drinking appeared to get worse during the past 8 months. He testified that they would both drink on the job. He and Greg would go to Richard Petersen's house to buy Vicodin and Percocet. Greg and Dawn argued mainly because of Greg's drinking and drug use. (TR 5 at 151). Greg would instigate the arguments. He had never heard Dawn mention anything about stabbing Greg. He saw Dawn on a daily

basis. They were close friends and confided in each other about a lot of things and he never heard her say anything of that nature. He believed that the stabbing would never have occurred if Greg was not high and drunk.

Sherry Heim was a long-time friend of both Dawn and Greg. She testified that Greg's demeanor had changed over the past year and that he angered quickly. He had a drinking problem and took the opiate, Norcos.

Mr. Stack used to date Sherry Heim's mother. She had known Greg for about 30 years and had known Dawn for about 10 years (TR 2 at 104). Dawn's 16-year-old daughter, Natiezia, was staying at her house on February 14. (TR 2 at 113). Dawn called her later in the afternoon and told her that Greg was yelling at her because Natiezia had not packed up things at the old house that he wanted to move to their new place. Dawn called her again at about 5 p.m. and stated that she needed her to come over and get the kids. She told her that Greg had been stabbed in the chest. Dawn called her later that day from the police station and was checking on Natiezia. Sherry told Dawn that Greg had passed away. Dawn was quiet and said "Oh my God." (TR 2 at 120)

Sherry Heim told Detective Schuette that Dawn had told her that when Greg returned to the house, they were fighting and that he had hit her with a dog cage and backed her into a corner. (TR 2 at 131). Sherry testified that Greg had a drinking problem and that over the past year his demeanor changed a lot. Any little thing could set him off when he was drunk. Greg also took Norcos which was similar to Vicodin. Dawn and Greg began to argue more during the 6 months before the incident when Dawn's mother became ill and Dawn was occupied helping with mother.

Paul Pierucki helped Greg move on the day of the incident. They started drinking at 8 in the morning. He said that they drank together almost every day. Dawn did not want to be around Greg when he was drunk. Paul said that they argued a lot and that Greg was always the aggressor.

Paul Pierucki had known Greg and Dawn for about 5 years. He saw Greg almost every day for the past 3 years and considered him to be his best friend. (TR 2 at 149). Paul

was helping Greg move on February 14. Greg and Dan Bivens picked him up around 8 in the morning and they began drinking peppermint schnapps and beer. The three of them drank together just about every single day. When Greg came over to his house to pick him up he gave Greg 4 Vicodins and recalled that Greg took them all. Greg was upset during the day because Natiezia was not helping with the move. Donna and Greg argued about that all day on the telephone.

Dawn stayed at the new apartment because she didn't want to deal with them when they were drinking. Dawn would try to leave when Greg was drinking and they would argue about it. He said that Greg was always the aggressor. (TR 2 at 155). During the day, the three of them drank two fifths of peppermint schnapps and more than a 12 pack of beer. He called Greg about 20 minutes after he left and Dawn answered the phone. Dawn told him that Greg had gotten into a fight on his way home and that she couldn't talk because the police were standing next to her.

He was surprised and wondered how Greg could have gotten into a fight in the 5 minutes that it took to get home from his house. After he got off the phone with Dawn he called Sherry Heim to find out what happened. He met with Detective Schuette on a couple of occasions. Schuette came to his house on February 14th and Dan Bivens was there as well. He believed that Dawn had something to do with the stabbing. (TR 2 at 167).

George Wilson owned a heating and cooling business. Gregory Stack installed duct work for him among other things. After he learned that Greg passed away, he spoke with Dawn to make arrangements to pick up his tools. (TR 2 at 215). Dawn told him that Greg came bursting into the house and threw a dog kennel at her and her 2 grandchildren who were sitting on the floor. He testified that she said she had had enough and she killed him. (TR 2 at 218).

Megan Marshall is Gregory Stack's daughter. She has known Dawn since she was 7 or 8 years at the time she began dating her father. Her sister, Jersey Stack, was Greg and

Dawn's biological child. (TR 3 at 81). Her step sisters are Alicia, Asia and Natiezia. On February 14, Megan was at her mother's house relaxing when she received a message from Natiezia that her father had been stabbed and that she needed come over. She had spoken to her father within 2 hours prior to the incident. When she asked Dawn what happened she told her that Greg came home drunk and was being violent and had her cornered in the kitchen. She picked up a knife and he lunged at her.

Detective Schuette asked her to call Dawn and to try to get her to explain what happened so that he could record it. (TR 3 at 94). Megan asked Dawn what happened and she stated that she wasn't really sure because it all happened so fast. She didn't know what she was going to do without Greg. The prosecutor asked Megan whether she thought "that it was actually a case of self-defense" when she spoke with Dawn. She responded "Not to the extent of killing him, no. If it was self-defense she could've hurt him anywhere else and not his heart. So, no." (TR 3 at 105). She testified that her father got aggressive, loud and mean when he was drunk.

Megan said that she had never seen her father act violent towards Dawn and that Dawn never told her of any such incidents. (TR 3 at 119). She had seen Greg annoy Dawn and make her mad when he was drunk.

Sean Pierce was good friends with Gregory Stack and had known him for 8 - 10 years. He met Dawn about the same time that he met Greg. He lived with Greg and Dawn on a couple of occasions. (TR 3 at 147). He witnessed Greg and Dawn argue on a few occasions and stated that neither one was the aggressor. He stated:

Well I heard one time that got my attention but I didn't think nothing of it really. It was, you know - - I can't remember exact words but she did say, you know, I'm going to stab you. Along those lines and - - or one of these days you're going to get stabbed or - - you know, so - - you know, that caught my attention. But shortly after that they walked away so I didn't, you know, think too much of it. It's like - - you know, thinking it's probably just a heated discussion. They went their own ways and, you know, after that they were fine and talking and, you know, the rest of the night seemed to - - went okay." (TR 3 at 151-152).

He didn't remember what they were fighting about.

Jeffrey Tobin testified that Greg, Dawn, Dawn's father and her kids moved in 2 doors away from him when he lived at 807 Northwest Ave. He had a lot of contact with both Greg and Dawn and described the relationship as normal. He witnessed them arguing but it was nothing out of the ordinary. When Greg drank he would go to bed early and when he drank too much he would be argumentative. (TR 3 at 166). He never saw him get physical with Dawn.

He spoke with Dawn a couple days after Dawn told him that Greg had come home drunk and was arguing with her and they got into an altercation. She told him that she swung a frying pan at Greg. After he took it away from her she grabbed a knife, lunged at him and it just happened to hit him in the chest. She said she was not aiming for his chest.

On cross-examination he admitted that Dawn told him that Greg threw a dog cage at her. He stated "I couldn't really make out that part. I knew it was either a couch or a dog cage that he either pushed over her or pushed her into it or something." (TR 3 at 178).

Thomas Gove was friends with Greg Stack and had known him for about 14 years. He would see him 3 - 4 times a month. He also knew Dawn. He learned that Greg had been killed from a voicemail message and could not believe that Dawn did it. He recalled that in November 2014, he was waiting for Greg to come home from work. Greg and Dawn were arguing. Dawn walked towards him and "said all I got to do is stick him in the chest and claim self-defense." (TR 3 at 187). He didn't think anything of it at the time because it wasn't the first time she said that. He stated that when they were living at Dawn's mother's house in 2003, he was waiting to go hunting with Greg and Dawn came into the kitchen and stated "I'm going to kill that F'er one of these days." (TR 3 at 188). Greg said that she was just pissed off.

Richard Petersen had known Gregory Stack since 3rd grade and believed that Greg considered him to be his best friend. They lived together for at least 17 years at various

times after they were 17 years old. (TR 4 at 6). He stated that Greg "would stick up for the little guy. Greg... was fun loving and very caring for the children." Greg took him hunting and fishing and made sure he had fun. He stated that "Greg taught me how to have fun."

He stated that his relationship with Greg changed considerably because he was against his relationship with Dawn. It almost felt like he was losing his significant other. They spoke together multiple times a day and when Greg hung up he would tell him "I love you." Peterson said that he got along well with Dawn. He was over at their house 5 - 7 times a week. Greg was a drinker and during their last fishing trip he drank 18 beers and a pint of whiskey. He had known Greg to be a drinker since 9th grade.

He stated that at times he would be called over to the house when Greg and Dawn were in the midst of an argument because Greg had to leave. On multiple occasions Dawn would tell Greg "I'm going to stab your ass." Petersen stated that when Greg was drunk he did get violent "but it was always as a reaction." (TR 4 at 20). During the 6 months before he passed away he would see Greg three times a week at his house. Peterson supplied both Dawn and Greg with 4-5 Vicodin pills several times a week.

He stated that on one occasion either Greg or Dawn called him to come over and get Greg. He arrived at the house between 1:30 and 2:30 a.m. and Dawn and Greg were yelling back and forth at each other. As he got closer, he saw blood coming from Greg's arm down to his hand. He stated that Dawn had a knife in her left hand and he could clearly see there was blood on the knife. She told him "you better get him the fuck out of here or I will stab his ass again." Greg responded "I can't believe you stabbed me." Greg finally went to the hospital the following day because he was having trouble using one of his fingers. (TR 7 at 25 - 26).

Richard Hale had known Gregory Stack for about 33 years and stated that they were together 3 or 4 times a week and hung out a lot. After Greg began his relationship with Dawn he did not hang out with him as frequently because he didn't like the way they lived.

Greg did not seem to care about how dirty the house was. He stated that on one occasion Greg called him on a Saturday morning about 7 or 8 years ago and asked him to come and get him. When he pulled up in the driveway Greg came right out of the house and he noticed that Greg had bandages on his arm. He could see remnants of blood that had bled through the bandage and Greg was in a hurry to leave. The prosecutor asked him what Greg said. Defendant's counsel objected. The prosecutor stated that it was not testimonial and that it was an excited utterance. The judge overruled the objection on both grounds. (TR 7 at 34). He testified that Greg said "the crazy bitch tried to kill me."

Shannon Hale had known Greg for about 22 years. They grew apart once he started going out with Dawn. She said that it didn't seem like a very good relationship and that her husband Richard had stopped drinking. When she and Richard picked him up, Greg was bouncing out of the door with his arm wrapped up and was giggling and laughing. They asked him what happened and "he said the crazy bitch tried to kill me but I blocked it." She asked Greg why wasn't she in jail and he said "Oh I didn't tell. I told 'em I put my arm through a window." (TR 7 at 41).

Megan Marshall testified that she recalled seeing Natiezia with a black eye. Natiezia was trying to stop a fight between Greg and Dawn and got a black eye. She did not recall Dawn ever talking about stabbing her father but she recalled her father talking about it and how he said he had fallen through a window.

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